

[image: Cover]





The Sequel

Jeffery Deaver

[image: image]







Copyright

The characters and events in this book are fictitious. Any similarity to real persons, living or dead, is coincidental and not intended by the author.

Copyright © 2012 by Jeffery Deaver

Used by permission of the author

Cover design by Keith Hayes

Cover copyright © 2016 by Hachette Book Group, Inc.

Hachette Book Group supports the right to free expression and the value of copyright. The purpose of copyright is to encourage writers and artists to produce the creative works that enrich our culture.

The scanning, uploading, and distribution of this book without permission is a theft of the author’s intellectual property. If you would like permission to use material from the book (other than for review purposes), please contact permissions@hbgusa.com. Thank you for your support of the author’s rights.

Mulholland Books / Little, Brown and Company

Hachette Book Group

1290 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10104

mulhollandbooks.com

twitter.com/mulhollandbooks

facebook.com/mulhollandbooks

First ebook edition: December 2016

Originally published in The Strand Magazine, 2012

Mulholland Books is an imprint of Little, Brown and Company, a division of Hachette Book Group, Inc. The Mulholland Books name and logo are trademarks of Hachette Book Group, Inc.

The publisher is not responsible for websites (or their content) that are not owned by the publisher.

The Hachette Speakers Bureau provides a wide range of authors for speaking events. To find out more, go to hachettespeakersbureau.com or call (866) 376-6591.

ISBN 978-0-316-36112-5

E3-20161031-JV-PC






Contents


	Cover

	Title Page

	Copyright

	The Sequel

	About the Author

	Mulholland and Strand Magazine ebook shorts

	Newsletters





Navigation


	Begin Reading

	Table of Contents







The Sequel

Jeffery Deaver

The very first letter Frederick Lowell slit open and read at his desk Monday morning would, he realized, change the course of history.

Literary history at least.

Which was, to him, perhaps the most important history of all.

Sporting a gray, three-piece suit, white shirt, and striped tie, Lowell sat in his anachronistic office on Seventh Avenue, a dim room tinged with a patina of old New York—high ceilings, windows that rose and lowered, stained oak trim, walls distorted by many layers of paint. The surfaces of the furniture and shelves were continually coated with the grit that always found its way inside as persistently as auditors at a hedge fund. And the music of street traffic, shouts, and jackhammers filled the air. The seventy-two-year-old lawyer pushed his metal bifocals higher on his nose, took a deep breath, and read the letter again.



Dear Mr. Lowell:



It has come to my attention that you are the literary trustee of the estate of the late author Edward Goodwin. I am an attorney in Ridgefield, CT. Recently I settled the estate of a client, who passed away three months ago.

The family of this client does not wish his or her name to be disclosed. However, they have instructed me that I may inform you of a discovery that was made during a review of my client’s correspondence.

Apparently my client was a friend of the late Mr. Goodwin during the 1960s. A carbon copy of a letter written to Mr. Goodwin was discovered among my client’s effects. It refers to a sequel to Cedar Hills Road. I myself am no expert on cultural history but even I am aware of the controversy as to whether or not Mr. Goodwin was working on a sequel to the novel when he passed away. The letter from my late client, a portion of which is reproduced here, suggests that indeed he was:





March 4, 1967

My dearest Edward,



[Material Deleted]

Finally, Edward, I’m delighted to learn from your latest letter that you are moving along well on the sequel to Cedar Hills Road. Is it true you are nearly finished? And let me say that I feel Anderson’s Hope is the perfect title. I know how tormented you were with the writer’s block you described in writing Cedar Hills and the even more difficult struggles you’ve had penning the sequel. It seems that you were right—it took getting away from the madness of urban life to the idyllic countryside and the beloved house of God that is so important to you. I cannot wait to read the second volume of the saga that, to me, defines America.




Mr. Lowell, I have examined all the other correspondence of my client and find no other references whatsoever to this sequel, nor were there notes or drafts of any fiction in my client’s possession related to this matter. The heirs of my client are willing to offer only the paragraph above, although they wish you the best in pursuing the matter if you so choose.


Very truly yours,

Daniel C. Wellington, Esq.





Frederick Lowell was a slim widower with a balding pate and affection for light opera and heavy novels. His life was simple: the law, walks around the city, meals with a close friend or with a book at one of the half-dozen modest restaurants he frequented on the Upper East Side, the enduring pleasure in taking his grandchildren to the zoo and movies (and bribing them with ice cream and s’mores to let Granddad read them the classics). He was staid and the epitome of calm ratiocination. Yet at the moment his heart was pounding, his palms popping with sweat, and he thought he might leap to his feet and dance a jig.

In 1966, a little-known journalist named Edward Goodwin published a novel called Cedar Hills Road, which immediately rose to the top of the best-seller lists.

Cedar Hills was one of those novels that come along once in a generation and take the literary world by storm. Writers can never be great unless they address the topic of death, and American writers can never be great unless they address the topic of race. Cedar Hills did both. Goodwin’s keen and poignant portrayals of family, justice, and morality captured the imagination of readers everywhere. The novel was a success because Goodwin painted these large subjects on a small canvas: a year in the lives of a Midwest American family, the Andersons, in their move from Hamilton, Ohio, to Chicago.

The book became a publishing phenomenon. It was sold in every major country on earth. The film version was described by a cantankerous but perceptive New Yorker critic as one of the most successful adaptations of a book to silver screen in the history of cinema.

The novel was largely self-contained, all the subplots tied up in craftsman style by the last page. And yet…the public hungered for more. This was hardly a surprise; who didn’t want seconds of their favorite meal? Of particular interest was the fate of the youngest son, Jesse Anderson, the most appealing of the family—the most observant, the most thoughtful.

But a sequel did not materialize. There were rumors that Goodwin was working on it, but stories also circulated that the success of the first book had sucked his creative well dry, like alum, and that he’d grown reclusive and taken to drinking heavily. The author died, at home in Chicago, in June of 1967 of pancreatic cancer, having never published another word after Cedar Hills.

If anyone might have known of a sequel, it would have been Frederick Lowell. His father, Richard, had been Goodwin’s attorney and after the author’s passing, the trustee of his literary estate. As Richard approached retirement age, in the 1980s, he shyly asked if his son would have an interest in joining him. The NYU law grad had leapt at the chance to give up the drudgery of hostile takeovers and international finance work on Wall Street, where he worked, and move uptown to become the right-hand portion of Lowell & Lowell.

After his father’s retirement, Frederick became successor trustee and took up the job as shepherd of Cedar Hills Road on behalf of Goodwin’s heirs—his son and daughter. Most of this work involved negotiating renewals and new contracts for the book’s publication and pursuing infringement claims. Often too he would field questions from publishers—and fans—as to whether a sequel existed. He’d pursued the matter years ago and found no evidence of one.

But now? Could it be true?

Outside the window, the jackhammers echoed the fierce thudding of his heart.

But a reference to a manuscript does not a manuscript make.

“Caitlin?” Lowell called into the ante-office.

“Yes?” asked the young woman, a brunette who would be delicate looking if not for the ink and piercings. Like Lowell, she was an NYU law school grad, cum laude, but one who preferred a more blended life than practicing law offered: as a paralegal during the day and East Village songstress at night.

“Hold all calls and cancel meetings for the next two days.”

“Is everything all right?”

“Oh, yes, very much all right,” the lawyer said enthusiastically and with more volume and animation than normal—earning him an amused but suspicious gaze from his assistant. Frederick Lowell was not known for outpourings of emotion. In fact, he was not known for much emotion at all.

One aspect of the job as trustee of the Goodwin estate that Lowell did not enjoy was, curiously, a main contractual duty: collecting and distributing to the heirs the royalties and other payments that Cedar Hills generated.

He’d come to believe that if anything had derailed the lives of Goodwin’s children it was the late author’s generosity.

The will provided that several libraries and literacy foundations would receive modest bequests and that the rest be divided equally between Goodwin’s son, Stoddard, and daughter, Anna. The problem was less the large, lump sum windfall they received at the time of their father’s death but the promise of regular income for the rest of their lives—or at least for so long as Cedar Hills remained in print. The offspring, in their twenties when their father passed, had immediately quit their jobs. And from that moment on they began to coast through life. Stoddard had tried his hand at a number of small businesses, which had not so much failed as petered out when he—or his wife, Beth—grew tired of them. He golfed and tennised a lot. Anna had tried to follow in her father’s footsteps and had written several novels, only one of which was published; it received indifferent notices. She gave up and, unlike her brother, found nothing as productive as sports to fill her time. Husbands and drinking became her pastimes.

Apart from cutting the checks, Lowell didn’t have much to do with the son and daughter, whom he referred to, with a hint of tacit disdain, as the Siblings. Legally they had no control over the disposition of Cedar Hills; Goodwin had the foresight to establish the trust that made substantive decisions about the novel. But the inconvenience of the law didn’t stop the Siblings from meddling, Stoddard and Beth at least. They would frequently call, offering suggestions about advertising and merchandizing (as if an action figure based on Jonas Anderson, the patriarch at the center of Cedar Hills, would be snapped up by Mattel). They were suspicious about the flow of income and insisted on detailed financial statements, which Lowell—meticulous by training and nature—readily provided.

As for Anna, Lowell had received only a dozen calls from her in the past five years and none about business. Mostly she rang him up late at night, drunk and sentimental, and asked for details of her father’s life, which he was unable to provide, never having met the man himself.

But several hours after receiving the letter from the lawyer in Connecticut, Lowell was on Metro North, speeding to White Plains to see the Siblings.

He was met at the station by Stoddard, now in his sixties. Trim, tall, and fit, strikingly resembling his father, the man greeted Lowell with a weak handshake and averted eyes. “So, look at that park,” he said, pointing at a green near the station. “They were close to finishing it but never did. There’s a huge battle in city hall. Do you know how many people sit on the board of supervisors?” As they climbed into an old, musty Cadillac and sped off, the man went on and on about the matter.

Lowell paid no attention. He’d learned by now that Stoddard believed that if you preemptively rambled enough, people would forget to deliver bad news. He hadn’t told the Siblings about the letter mentioning the sequel, just that he wanted to see them about an important matter. He was worried that forewarning would give them time to think up dozens of questions, as well as schemes about how to maximize the income they’d be receiving from the new book.

It seemed that a wise detective would play cards close to his chest.

WWSSD…What would Sam Spade do? That was Frederick Lowell’s new mantra.

They drove for ten minutes on the highway before Stoddard turned off and began threading along increasingly smaller surface roads. Finally they left pavement altogether. This was curious. It was not the way to his and Beth’s house (and Anna, he knew, had recently lost her residence to her third husband in a messy divorce).

Soon all he could see was Westchester County wilderness. Thick trees mostly. A marsh or two.

Lowell’s curiosity at their route turned to shock when he saw their destination: a small, battered bungalow sitting in a scabby square of dirt and weeds. A carport about to collapse. A chicken wire fence.

“Home sweet home.”

Their previous house had been an opulent McMansion. The plot of land was small but the home itself had sprawled over six thousand square feet. That was in addition to a vacation house in Florida and ski lodge in Vail.

And now they lived here?

Inside the dim place, mustier than the Caddy, he greeted Beth, who was a stocky woman with short hair, and Anna, leaner, dressed in baggy shirt and skirt like a hippie—or a homeless lady. Her graying hair was long and dull.

Beth looked at Lowell suspiciously. Then equally so at her husband. She’d expressed resentment over the years that Stoddard’s share of the royalties went to him exclusively, not the two of them—one of the many issues they sniped and countersniped about. Lowell couldn’t understand such a relationship. He had been married for forty-two wonderful years to a woman he’d met at a literary conference. They’d wed eight months after meeting and been constant companions until a faulty artery had separated them forever. He knew theirs had been a high standard for a marriage—friendship, humor, intellectual parity at the prow—but Stoddard and his wife didn’t even bother to conceal their seeming mutual disdain.

Anna greeted him with a distant smile. Her travel mug was filled with liquor, Lowell could smell. The hour was just past one p.m.

Looking around, Lowell observed too that one of the bedrooms seemed to be hers. He could only imagine the tension that this living arrangement created.

The house was quiet and sparsely decorated. A few books, more magazines, and a huge flat-screen, high-def TV. A few family pictures of Goodwin, his wife, and the children dotted the walls. Neither of the Siblings had children of their own. Maybe having a literary legend of a father—and a tormented one—had been a deterrent.

Beth must have noted Lowell’s eyes sweeping the house. “It’s only temporary,” she said defensively, with a glance at her husband.

Lowell couldn’t help wondering how they’d blown through millions and millions of dollars. As of a few years ago, the last time he’d visited, they’d been doing fine. Since the regular royalty income was not insubstantial, Lowell assumed they were in debt. Stoddard’s bad business ventures, probably; Anna’s choice of men.

He sat down on a saggy couch; no one offered him a beverage. He looked them over and said, “Apparently there is a sequel.”

There was no need to be more specific. The center of their lives was Cedar Hills Road; it hung over every conversation and gathering. The title never needed to be mentioned. In fact, it never was, as if uttering those four syllables would be like a demonic incantation that would destroy the good fortune the book had brought.

“My God, you found it?” Stoddard asked, eyes wide.

“So Dad had it in him after all.” Anna seemed pleased. She celebrated by lifting her mug and taking a long sip.

Beth looked at her distastefully, then turned to Lowell and asked, “Now. Frederick, what’s the offer?”

“I don’t have the manuscript yet. Just a hint that it did at one point exist.” He explained about the letter he’d received from the lawyer in Connecticut.

“Well, sue him,” Stoddard snapped.

“What?” Lowell asked, blinking.

“We’ll sue the prick, force him to tell us more.”

Lowell explained, “I don’t know what you’d actually sue for. He doesn’t have to tell us any more. He contacted me as a courtesy. Besides, he told me there was nothing else and I believe him.”

“No, no, he’s holding out. Mark my words, he’ll let us stew and then hit us up for a finder’s fee.”

Anna rolled her eyes.

Lowell said, “Well, I think the more productive approach is for me to try to track down the manuscript. I found two clues and I’m hoping you might be able to help me with them.”

He removed the letter from his attaché case and read the passage aloud. He looked up. “So, in the spring of ’67 your father was in some idyllic countryside and apparently spent time in or near a church while he was writing the sequel. If we can find out where, we might be able to pick up leads as to who has the manuscript or where it is.”

“Pop wasn’t religious,” Anna pointed out. “It was one of the things that made the book so good. Spirit detached from formal religion. He tapped into the zeitgeist of the period, the conflicted 1950s.”

Stoddard and Beth looked at her blankly.

Lowell harbored a suspicion that Stoddard had never actually read Cedar Hills Road. He was sure Beth had not. Anna, on the other hand, had produced some critical pieces about her father’s work—good ones—before her energy for writing dissipated.

“We never went to church growing up.” Anna added.

“No. Never,” Stoddard agreed.

“Wouldn’t have been a bad idea,” Beth said cryptically and with an edge.

“What about the countryside reference? Was there a vacation home?”

“Not one that we ever went to. We didn’t see dad much for the last two years of his life,” Stoddard said darkly. “I think he was embarrassed about having a family.”

Anna countered, “No, he was going through hell. Writer’s block, the pressure to do a sequel, the cancer. He didn’t want us to see him miserable.”

Stoddard frowned. “Bullshit. It was that he was having affairs and didn’t want his girlfriends to know about us.”

“All anybody had to do was read the book jacket to know he had children,” Anna snapped.

The meeting was going even worse than Lowell had anticipated. “Do you have any letters, records from back then?”

Anna looked at her brother and grimaced. “He had quite a lot of our family’s things.”

Stoddard said sourly, “How was I supposed to know anybody’d come calling about a sequel?”

“You threw it all out?” Lowell asked in a whisper.

“Bad memories,” the man muttered. Then his face softened and he looked at the lawyer. “As long as you’re here, Frederick, tell me: When’s the next royalty check coming in?”

The following day, Lowell traveled to Southampton on Long Island to visit with Preston Malone.

Malone was, in a way, similar to Edward Goodwin. Although he’d written—and continued to write—essays and articles on literature, he’d penned only one full-length book in his life: Edward Goodwin: Cedar Hills Road and the Essential American Experience.

The exhaustive tome had won a Pulitzer and had at one point been required reading in many a college lit course. In recent years, though, Malone had become a bit of a caricature, growing more and more obsessed with Goodwin and Cedar Hills. While the biography was piercingly objective, later articles were less so. He took up the standard of championing the author to an audience that had moved on. Kinder critics called him Quixotic. Less kind—usually bloggers—called him names like “Goodwin’s pimp.”

The taxi dropped Lowell off at Malone’s modern gray beach house, which was nowhere near a beach. The bearded, balding writer, weighing close to three hundred pounds, greeted him the way a scientist happily identifies a new bug; Lowell was a minor genus but nonetheless part of the Goodwin mythos too.

“Come in, come in, Frederick! Can I call you Frederick? I’m Preston.”

They stepped into the large living room. And Lowell braked to a stop. He’d expected, given the writer’s interest in Goodwin, that he’d find memorabilia. He hadn’t expected a shrine.

There was no other way to describe it. Goodwin had been well photographed during his life and Malone must have had at least one copy of every snap ever taken. On one wall were bookshelves devoted to all of the American editions of the book, on another, the foreign. Movie posters hung from other walls: English language as well as Italian, German, French, Spanish, and Japanese. Advertisements for the book and the films sat on easels. Framed autographs and glass cases of pens and accessories like shoelaces and garments bedeviled tables and shelves.

“Frederick! Look at this, look! Oh, this is quite something. I know you’re going to get a chill down your spine.” Malone snatched up a small box, inside of which something rattled. Lowell reluctantly walked closer to the madly grinning writer as he reverently opened it.

My God, were they Goodwin’s baby teeth? Fingernails?

No, thank goodness. Cuff links.

“He wore these in the famous picture. You know the one I mean, of course.” He pointed to the Richard Avedon portrait.

“Impressive.”

“Now, now…” He snapped the lid closed and sat, gesturing Lowell to do the same. In a whisper: “You’ve found some reference to it?”

The Sequel to the Book.

He explained about the letter and showed the biographer a copy.

Malone nodded. “Connecticut. Sure.” As if he were an ace student rattling off answers to a professor’s question in class, he ran unhesitatingly through a half-dozen names of women who could have been the client described in the letter. Some of these Goodwin was with before his wife died, he explained, some after. Malone twisted his head sideways and looked pensive. “Katrina Tomlison, I’ll bet. She was beautiful. Articulate. A little crazy, true. Made him recite passages of the book so she could have an orgasm.”

Lowell steered matters back to his mission. “The clues are idyllic countryside and a house of God. Any ideas?”

“God, God…” This perplexed Malone. “Edward had issues. His brain made him an Emersonian Transcendentalist; his heart couldn’t quite slough off the Catholicism of his youth.”

Lowell said, “Even if not religious, though, is it possible that he might have found comfort in a country church or graveyard?”

“That’s more likely.”

“And it would be in the countryside. Any thoughts about that?”

“Edward was more comfortable in an urban setting,” Malone said in a prim tone, as if Goodwin were alive and present and expected the biographer to defend his reputation as a man who hated hiking and camping. “I don’t know any reference in his correspondence to spending time in the country.”

“The letter was dated in March of ’67,” Lowell said. “Where was Goodwin then?”

Without needing to consult any of the many file cabinets in the living room and den, Malone said sourly, “The last two years of his life were my biggest challenge—and those were the ones that I was most interested in. He’d grown very reclusive. Mysterious. Officially his address was Chicago. He was a widower then and the children were living in the city with their grandparents. Edward was away for much of the time, though. A lot of it Pittsburgh.”

Not exactly idyllic countryside.

Malone continued, “But I’m pretty sure he traveled elsewhere. I tried to find where but…I couldn’t.” His eyes were downcast, as if apologizing to his team for losing a game by striking out.

Lowell wanted to clap him on the back and tell him, “It’s all right.” He looked at the dozens of file cabinets. “Any documentation from March of that year?”

Malone now scooted off and returned with a slim file, neatly labeled 3/67. “There’s this.” He lifted out a single piece of yellowing paper.

Lowell’s heart began thudding. What would it show? An address? A safe-deposit box number?

It was a receipt for coffee and a cheese sandwich.

Lowell sat back. “That’s it?”

“Afraid so.”

The top of the receipt bore only the words, in scripty type, “The Hudson House.”

No city, no state, no phone number.

“I tried to track it down but didn’t have any luck.”

Lowell said, “So aside from the idyllic countryside and the house of God, the only thing we know for sure is that he was, at least part of the time, in Pittsburgh the last two years of his life.”

“That’s right.”

“What was he doing there?” Lowell asked.

“Oh, he was hanging out with a murderer.”

Back in the city, at his desk, Frederick Lowell flipped open the Malone biography—the author had insisted he take one with him, suitably inscribed. He read the chapters describing Goodwin’s connection to Pittsburgh.

Goodwin had been a crime reporter for the Chicago Tribune but took time off in 1965 to write an account of a horrific murder in Pennsylvania.

Jon Everett Coe came from an affluent and well-educated family in Bucks County, Pennsylvania, his father a physician, his mother a principal of an exclusive private school. A troublesome child from a very young age, Coe excelled academically through his first year in college, then began suffering increasingly severe breaks with reality, threatening neighbors, his parents and his younger siblings, acting incoherently. Finally he snapped altogether and, in 1962, was arrested and convicted for murdering his mother.

At trial it was revealed that Mary Coe, embarrassed about her son’s condition, relentlessly pushed him to become “normal,” pressuring him into treatments and to return to school. The woman was known to be strident and demanding of all her children but didn’t seem to realize that Jon could not be handled with conventional discipline—until it was too late.

By the time that Edward Goodwin became aware of the case, Coe was on death row at Statesville Prison outside of Pittsburgh. Goodwin was curious to know how such a troubled individual could be found sane and executed. The answer seemed to be, as the prosecutor pointed out, that when he was not in a delusional or fugal phase, Coe was remarkably thoughtful, articulate, and insightful. He wrote his own appeals, which judges praised for their clear reasoning. He sketched and painted excellent landscapes and portraits, and he wrote reams of poetry, some of which was published and critically well received. Goodwin felt it was patently unfair that a man who committed a crime in the midst of a psychotic episode receive the death penalty, and he wanted to use this injustice as the theme of his book.

It seemed that in 1966 and ‘67 Goodwin was splitting his time between Chicago and Pittsburg, interviewing Coe. This was an astonishingly productive time. He not only spent hundreds of hours researching the nonfiction but he wrote Cedar Hills and, apparently, much of the novel’s sequel then too. Though he complained from time to time in his letters to his editor about writer’s block, he also commented occasionally that, thanks to his “muse,” he’d made good progress in his writing.

This was all very interesting, but Lowell had learned nothing that moved him closer to his goal of finding Anderson’s Hope.

Jon Coe was, of course, long gone, executed in September of ‘67. But Coe’s last surviving family member, his younger brother, was alive. Samuel Coe, a physician like his father, was still living in Bucks County. He was a psychiatrist and Lowell wondered if he’d gone into the profession because of his brother’s condition.

Lowell called Samuel Coe and explained his mission regarding the sequel, then delicately inquired as to whether the man would mind a few questions about the time leading up to his brother’s execution.

“No, not really. I don’t talk to reporters but if you have a connection with Edward Goodwin, I’m happy to help.”

“Did you ever meet him? Goodwin?”

“No, I’m afraid not,” the psychiatrist said. “My sister and I were young then, just teenagers, and our father wouldn’t let us speak to reporters. I know Dad talked to Goodwin a few times but I have no idea about what.”

Nor had the doctor heard any talk about sequels to Cedar Hills Road.

Lowell then asked if the “idyllic countryside” in the letter might be Bucks County, where the murder had occurred, but again Dr. Coe couldn’t provide insights other than to confirm that if any place was idyllic it was that portion of Pennsylvania.

Not surprisingly the doctor could not provide insights either into any “house of God” where Goodwin had spent time.

Lowell then asked, “Any chance you have any correspondence between Jon and Goodwin?”

“No, we tried to get back my brother’s effects and the contents of his cell after they executed him but the prison said it had all been disposed of. Frankly, I didn’t want it anyway. I was very conflicted about Jon, as you can imagine.”

“Did he ever talk to you about Goodwin?”

“Yes, a little, when he wasn’t delusional. Nothing about Cedar Hills, though. Mostly he told me about how Goodwin was a friend. He treated my brother like a decent person. They’d talk for hours and hours. He taught Jon how to type, so he could write his own appeals for court. He got permission from the prison to lend my brother his typewriter.” The man paused. “I still remember the night of the execution. I was the last person Jon called. Goodwin had passed away by then and Jon said that when the book about the murder and trial was published and they made a movie, I was supposed to make sure the director did right by Goodwin.”

Samuel Coe gave a sad laugh. “Of course, most death row movies are about lawyers or journalists saving innocent prisoners at the last minute. I couldn’t very well tell Jon that Hollywood probably wouldn’t be interested in a story where the prisoner dismembered his mother’s body and wrote poetry in her blood on the wall while waiting for the police to show up.”

The call to Samuel Coe hadn’t been productive. But it did give Frederick Lowell another idea.

When production of the film of Cedar Hills Road began, in the fall of ‘66, Edward Goodwin had gone out to Hollywood briefly to meet the stars and the director and some executives at Cantor Brothers Studios. It was solely a social visit. He didn’t work on the script—a screenwriter cannot, as Goodwin apparently did with some frequency, wait for a muse to inspire him. Scripts are written on demand, under tight deadlines.

According to Malone’s biography, he hit it off well with everyone in LA and even dined with Elizabeth Taylor and William Holden.

Lowell called a lawyer he knew at a mega-entertainment company, one of whose smaller divisions was all that remained of the once-regal Cantor Brothers. He put Lowell in touch with the head of the division, Cantor Classics, which still produced a few independent films a year and retained all the rights to the filmed version of Cedar Hills Road.

Ira Lepke sounded as if he were seventeen years old and said, “ah ah ah” a lot, as thoughts flew from his mind like batter from a Mix Master. Lowell suspected, though, that the scattered verbal skills didn’t hurt his ability to take home a million or two a year in producer’s fees.

“Ah ah ah, that’s one of our righteous solids, Cedar Hills is.”

Solids.

Lowell was both amused and irritated by the ease with which Hollywood coined words.

“Cedar made the studio some major rev. I’m speaking, ah ah ah, dirigibles of money.”

That couldn’t be an expression.

Lepke continued, “Aside from Elizabeth and Bill and Karl, casting cost us nothing. Sets were on the back lot and location shots were in Indiana. It was a phenom, you know. Beyond great.”

“One of the best movies of the twentieth century, you ask me.”

A pause. Lepke said, “No, I meant the budget structure, front-and back-end payment sits. It’s legend. I mean, pure legend.”

“So’s the movie.”

Lepke said, “I’ve heard.”

Which explained a lot.

“I know it was before your time—” As in a generation before. “—but I’m trying to track down any information on the sequel to the book. Is there anybody with the studio who was around then?”

“When?”

“In the sixties.”

A laugh. “Are you kidding? There isn’t anybody who was with the studio in the nineties. Hold on. I’ll IMDB it. Hold on, hold on.…Ah ah ah, reading the credits, scanning, scanning…Nope. Most of ’em’re dead. Maybe you could track down a few through the guilds. If you don’t mind old folks’ homes. But, believe me, I really doubt anybody in the cast or crew could help. Nobody’d remember Goodwin.”

“Why do you say that?”

“He was just the writer.” Then Lepke grew coy. “Say, Franklin?”

“Frederick.”

“Did we have an option on the sequel?”

“No. The deal with Cantor Brothers was for Cedar Hills only. No sequel.”

Lepke snapped, “Jesus, what f’ing-pardon-my-French shyster negotiated that against us?”

“My father.”

“Ah ah ah, sorry. Well, good for him.”

Lowell thanked him for his help.

“Oh, Frank? I mean, Frederick?”

“Yes?”

“You find the sequel, gimme a call. Keep us in mind, OK? Shia and Tatum were circling just last week. Looking for props that’ll let ’em do an art turn. This could be just the thing. You’ve got my digits. Ah ah ah, gimme a call.”

That night, Frederick Lowell trudged home from the subway in a sour mood.

He picked up a sandwich for dinner and continued on to his building.

His apartment was modest. It was Second Avenue Upper East, not Fifth Avenue Upper East, and there is, of course, a matter-antimatter difference between the two. On the third floor of a walk-up brownstone, the two-bedroom place was small and dark most of the time, though in the summer it was illuminated by a stunning blast of morning light; the nearby mirrored Trump monolith efficiently reflected sun for a few minutes not long after dawn. Lowell shared the place with a mouse or two—or rather generations of them, since he’d first heard their skittles and huffs ten years ago. He took no measures to discourage them, other than to protect his staples.

The pipes were noisy, the traffic too, the neighbors odd.

Still, he loved it because it had that one quality that was unusual in the city: It was comforting, containing pictures of his late wife, his children and their children, souvenirs they’d collected on their travels, furniture from the home of his youth in Connecticut, framed letters from clients, most of whom he also counted as his friends.

And books, thousands of books.

Comfort.

Tonight, though, as he sat before the small fireplace in his green leather chair, Lowell sighed and waited for the dour mood to dissipate.

No such luck.

He’d changed from his suit into slacks and a starched pale yellow shirt that he might have worn to his office if he ever wore pastels on the job. He sat with a sherry and looked over the letter from the Ridgefield attorney once more.

No clues as to Hudson House. No clues as to idyllic countryside. No clues as to houses of God. No hard evidence of Anderson’s Hope at all.

On a whim he rose, walked to a bookshelf, and pulled down a copy of Cedar Hills Road. He began reading and was instantly captivated by the easy prose, the brilliant expressions and figures of speech that seemed to come so easily to Goodwin. There were dozens of passages that made you think: My God, I’ve felt that way all my life but I’ve never been able to put the sentiment into words. He feels what I feel.

The story defined twentieth-century America. The novel itself defined fiction.

Somewhere during the account of the Andersons’ move to Chicago, Lowell’s head dipped and he dozed off. An hour later, he started awake, his mind dotted with fragments of a vague dream.

As he rose to go to bed, the copy of the novel flipped open to the dedication page.


To the memory of the man who is Zeus in the Olympus of literature, Thomas Wolfe.



Lowell sat down again and reflected: If Wolfe, the brilliant author of Look Homeward, Angel, was Goodwin’s Zeus, then you could say his home, in Asheville, NC, was a house of god.

And few areas of the country are as idyllic as that small town in the southwestern portion of the state.

Is that where Goodwin had gone to get away from Pittsburgh and the grim atmosphere of death row?

Lowell walked to his desk, no longer the least groggy, and typed into Google: “Asheville, North Carolina,” “Hudson House,” “1967.”

Within seconds he had his answer: an article from a local newspaper back then.


The Hudson House Inn just outside of Asheville is a popular resort for people wishing to get away from the bustle of city life. The lovely rooms are appointed with local antiques and many a guest has come away from supper (which can be purchased a la carte or included in the price of a room), convinced he has had one of the South’s finest meals.

Among the guests at Hudson House have been politicians, artists and—not the least—famed writers.



Frederick Lowell found comfort in train travel. He’d looked into an Amtrak journey to Asheville but learned that while the price was right, the duration was not—fourteen hours to get to Spartanburg, which was still an hour away from Asheville by car.

What would Sam Spade do?

A private eye owes allegiance to his assignment, not his personal preference. So Lowell booked a flight and by noon was in the Asheville Public Library, where he spent the better part of the day browsing old newspapers for references to Goodwin—merely a few “spotted on the street” sorts of comments, but at least they confirmed that the author had traveled here.

There were also plenty of tidbits on the Hudson House.

From there he walked up the street to the courthouse and its public records department. He pieced together that the Hudson House Inn had ceased operation during the nineties. A local businessman had bought the dilapidated place, and filed papers to turn it into a museum, though the process, which involved a great deal of fundraising, was moving slowly.

He called the man, Harold Wilkins, who immediately agreed to meet him. Wilkins was excited at the possibility that the inn might have been the site where the sequel to Cedar Hills Road had been written. This would add to the place’s museumability. Wilkins said that, yes, he’d carefully preserved all of the records of the ninety-year history of the place, though they weren’t stored in the unoccupied Hudson House itself; for protection from the humidity of the brutal North Carolina summers, and the risk of fire, they were in Wilkins’s air-conditioned garage.

Twenty minutes later, the lawyer was at the modest brown clapboard house where the Birkenstock-wearing fortyish Wilkins and his wife lived.

Unlike the Siblings, the enthusiastic Wilkins was a proper host, plying Lowell with tea so sweet it took his breath away. Lowell hadn’t known so much sugar could fit into a single glass. They stood in the kitchen, chatting about the museum. Wilkins didn’t much pause to allow the lawyer to speak, going on in his sorghum-thick accent about his plans. “We’ll have a lot more, of course, than the Thomas Wolfe house does, with all respect. We’re including the fire of 1937, the Biltmore, local wine, tobacco, and, of course, the battle of Asheville. April, 1865. Three hundred confederate troops repulsed Union General Isaac Kirby’s one thousand regulars. It was a glorious day.” Then, as if he suddenly realized Lowell was a Yank, he added, “There were only minor casualties.”

Finally he led Lowell to the garage. The man had done a good job organizing and preserving artifacts. Boxes were labeled and stacked by year. Guest Registers. Correspondence. Business Records. Receipts. Tax Returns. Mementos.

Lowell asked the obvious first question: Had anyone found a manuscript that a guest might have left behind years ago?

“No, no.” A grimace. “I would have remembered that. Great exhibit in the museum. Just think about it. But feel free to browse.” Wilkins nodded toward the hundred or so boxes, and then retired to the corner where he began to lovingly polish a pair of antique candlesticks.

Lowell started on the boxes for 1966 and 1967. He flipped open the lid and began rifling carefully through the papers.

He learned that Edward Goodwin had indeed been a frequent guest there throughout the entire time that the sequel would have been written. He’d taken the same room, 2B, and paid in advance for several weeks at a time.

Yet nothing suggested the existence of any manuscript he was working on or gave the names of people or places that might have helped in Lowell’s search. An hour later, his back aching, he was about to take a break when he glanced down at a carbon copy of a letter dated in the fall of ‘67.

The letter from the then owner of the inn was addressed to Lowell’s own father.



September 28, 1967

Robert Lowell, Esq.

751 Seventh Avenue

New York, NY

Dear Mr. Lowell,



I was given your name as the attorney representing the estate of the late Mr. Edward Goodwin by his publishing company. First, let me offer my condolences upon the loss of Mr. Goodwin. He was a regular and revered guest here and we all feel his loss most deeply. May I say too that Cedar Hills Road was one of my favorite books and I am honored to have a copy he—most graciously—inscribed to me and my family.

Now for the reason I’m writing: just after Mr. Goodwin passed, a large box arrived here, addressed to him. The return address was Statesville, Penn. As it was marked personal, we didn’t feel it proper to open the carton. I am forwarding it herewith, in hopes you will make certain his family receives it.


Very truly yours,

Hanley K.C. Beaumont, Proprietor,

The Hudson House Inn

Asheville, NC





The address was the same building on Seventh Avenue where Lowell’s present office was located. He read the letter again. Why does Statesville sound familiar? He thought for a moment; it seemed to have to do with the Jon Coe story. He pulled out his phone and placed a call to Samuel Coe, the prisoner’s brother. He explained what he’d found and asked about the name Statesville. Coe confirmed that it was both the name of the prison and the small suburb of Pittsburgh where the place was located. Perhaps it was where Goodwin had stayed during the months of interviewing Jon. Lowell thanked him and disconnected.

Keep going, Lowell prodded himself. What could be in the box? Notes from Jon Everett Coe for Goodwin’s true-crime story? Materials Goodwin had shipped to himself from Statesville? Or had the prison officials themselves sent something the author had left behind?

He called his assistant. After Frederick had explained what he’d found, Caitlin said, “I’ll take a look at Mr. Lowell’s archives.” Frederick was “Frederick,” to Caitlin. Robert was and would forever be “Mr. Lowell.”

Lowell waited for no more than three minutes when she came back on the line. “I think I’ve found something.”

“Go ahead.” Taking more deep breaths.

“In the fall of ’67 there are a half-dozen letters from your father to Stoddard Goodwin, reminding him he’d received a box of personal material from North Carolina and he wanted to forward it to him. He never responded and Mr. Lowell apparently gave up.”

Just like the son didn’t care about any of his father’s other personal effects.

Bad memories…

Lowell said quickly, “Which means the box might be in the file room downstairs.”

A pause. “You want me to go check?”

“Would you mind?”

“The basement,” she said.

“Would you mind?” he repeated.

The cellar was filthy, filled with dirt and dust far worse than the worst grit you’d find in the office proper.

“I’ll put on my miner’s hat.”

“You’re wonderful, my dear.”

They disconnected.

“A lead?” Wilkins asked.

“Possibly.”

Lowell spent the next hour continuing his search but found nothing else.

He thanked Wilkins, donated one hundred dollars to the museum fund, and drove to the hotel where Caitlin had booked a room for him, wondering where he might get a good Southern meal for dinner—with bourbon and without sweet tea.

As he proffered his credit card, the young clerk glanced at her records and told him he’d just received a fax. He took the envelope—the sender’s number was his own office—and ripped it open. The top sheet reported, in Caitlin’s handwriting:



Frederick,



Found the BOX. Pages and pages of notes about some crime, murder trial, witnesses, death penalty, etc. Oh, and at the bottom was something you might be interested in. A manuscript. 540 pages. I’m including the first page.


—Caitlin





p.s. I will NEVER get the dirt out from under my nails without an expensive manicure.

Lowell read what followed:


8/2/67

Anderson’s Hope

By Edward Goodwin

Chapter One




Jesse Anderson turned 18 in May, the age of majority, the age when he was free to make his own decisions, the age when he would soon learn how his anger, not his heart, would become his principal guide.

The Anderson family had by then relocated moved from West Fullerton Street in the mad, teeming metropolis maelstrom of Chicago, to a burgh carved out of the plains forty miles north, not even in existence until five years before. And, though GEOGRAPHICALLY short, what a journey it was from Carl Sandburg’s city to the strange enclave of Miller’s Falls. Forty miles of new concrete highway, of new commuter train lines, of vistas of flat plains, land that had once sustained farms and was now in transition changing for the worse, betrayed by the government, by the market and the financiers. By greed. EXHAUSTED by greed. This was

This move alone might seem to be the reason to engender fury within the soul of the youngest Anderson son (though it would soon be
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The sequel had been sitting eighty or so feet directly beneath Lowell’s desk for half a century.

“Sir? Are you all right?” The young clerk asked, staring at him.

The lawyer looked at her blankly. Then nodded.

He called Preston Malone, got his fax number, and told him to check out what he was about to receive. Lowell then arranged for the transmission and called back a few minutes later. The biographer—breathless and with quivering voice—said, “I’m sure it’s authentic.” He explained that he had one of the original typescripts of Cedar Hills and he confirmed that the typewriter typeface was similar to that of the first manuscript. The writing style was too, reflected in the strikeouts and the all-caps, which meant, Malone speculated, that Goodwin was wondering if it was the best, the most precise, the most lyrical choice of word or expression.

After disconnecting, he walked in a daze to his room, actually feeling feverish with excitement. His face burned, his ears rang. He called Caitlin and told her what Malone had said.

“Frederick, we found it!”

“We did indeed.” He added that he’d be back first thing tomorrow. Then said solemnly, “Whatever else you do, make a copy.”

“You bet, Frederick. I’ll do it now.”

“Oh, and you know that manicure you mentioned? Add on a pedicure too.”

“Yay!”

An hour later he texted the Siblings, telling them that he’d found a copy of the sequel and would be reading it tomorrow. He chose not to call because he didn’t want to be drawn into a long discussion with Stoddard about how much money the book would generate.

That night Lowell lay awake until five a.m., lost in a thousand thoughts, very few of which had to do with the business aspects of the find, the money, rights, licensing. Mostly he was wondering: What would become of Jesse Anderson, the whole world’s marvelous Everyboy in Cedar Hills Road.

A few hours later, he was on the first flight to Charlotte, where he connected to LaGuardia.

He was so eager to get back to the office he didn’t want to wait in line for a cab so he’d arranged for a car service to pick him up, an expense he otherwise wouldn’t have considered. The limo cooperated but the traffic did not. He sat in the back of the Lincoln, hugely impatient as the crush of rush-hour vehicles wormed its way toward Manhattan.

Two blocks from Seventh Avenue, the limo at a standstill, he climbed out, handed the driver an extra tip, and trotted the rest of the way to the office.

An elevator, naturally, was out of order and there was a queue for the remaining one. Lowell debated the stairs but the office was on the seventh floor and he was not in great shape. He knew the Stieg Larsson story. He waited in line.

Finally he strode into the familiar, dim hallway and to his office, swinging the door open and smiling like a gold-medal Olympian.

Caitlin looked up from her desk. And burst into tears.

“It’s been stolen, Frederick. The copy too. They’re both gone.”

Numb, but struggling to remain analytical, Frederick Lowell was playing detective once again.

WWSSD?

The door had been forced open sometime last night or early this morning with a crowbar or other tool. Nothing but the box with the manuscript and the copy from Caitlin’s desk drawer had been taken. The thief wanted only Anderson’s Hope. File cabinets and drawers had clearly been examined, though, probably to make sure there were no other copies.

But who was the thief?

Word that he’d been on the trail of the sequel to Cedar Hills might have spread but he couldn’t imagine a publisher stealing the manuscript. Any editor attempting to bring the novel out himself would get hit by a copyright claim—not to mention risk arrest for breaking and entering.

It had to be for some other reason.

But what?

Absently stirring a dusting of grit on the windowsill, Lowell stared down at all that existed of Anderson’s Hope, the title and first few paragraphs of the novel.

Was it possible that someone did not want the manuscript published?

But this made no sense. It was in everyone’s interest to see the sequel in print. Everybody would make money, the name of Edward Goodwin would be perpetuated, the fans would be ecstatic.

Lowell’s eyes locked on the fax of the sequel’s title page.

And then he started, as if he’d been slapped.

No!

Impossible.

In the upper left-hand corner was the date 8/2/67.

August second.

Two months after Edward Goodwin died.

And suddenly a terrible scenario loomed: That someone else had written the sequel.

Which raised the even more earth-shattering question: Was it possible that Goodwin had not authored Cedar Hills Road itself?

Lowell felt within him dread, almost a physical illness, as a chilling question arose: Was the real author of the classic novel Jon Everett Coe, the man who had murdered and dismembered his mother?

As horrifying a thought as this was, it made sense. The box containing the manuscript was shipped from Statesville, where the prison was located. Goodwin had never written a word of fiction until he’d met the prisoner. Cedar Hills—and the sequel—were written during the months when Goodwin was visiting Coe on a regular basis. And he hadn’t returned to his home in Chicago to write the book; he’d worked in Asheville, North Carolina, largely alone, away from anyone who might have noticed that he was perhaps not actually writing the book at all, but polishing words written by somebody else.

As for Jon Coe, he’d been a savant, Lowell recalled, who in his lucid moments wrote his own appeals and critically acclaimed poetry. And Goodwin had lent the man his typewriter—purportedly to write legal documents, but possibly also to help him pen the novels. Malone reported that the typewriter and the style of writing were consistent from one book to the next, yet Goodwin had never written any other fiction, so there was no other typescript for comparison. Goodwin also struggled with writer’s block. The sequel was delayed, he reported on a number of occasions, because Goodwin was waiting for his muse to speak to him. Well, apparently he did have a muse. One who just happened to be a murderer.

But why would Coe write the novels? Was it his way of giving back to the man who regularly came to prison to see him, who spent hours and hours speaking with the killer, listening to him, treating him like a human being, despite the terrible crime he’d committed?

Lowell sat back, eyes closed, still struggling to come to terms with his realization. My God. The author of one of the most beloved books in the history of the novel might in fact have been a psychotic killer.

As for who’d perpetrated the theft, Lowell believed he had the answer to that too.

The Siblings.

Stoddard, most likely. Lowell had texted him last night about the find. If the sequel were published, revitalizing Goodwin’s career and a critical examination of the two books, it might come to light who the true author was and the publishing contracts would be cancelled. They’d receive no more royalties.

Publishers might even sue them for refunds if it could be proven they knew that Goodwin wasn’t the author. And it wasn’t unlikely that Dr. Samuel Coe, as Jon’s heir, might sue for all the royalties the book had earned over the years. At the very least he might demand a huge settlement.

Lowell hurried from the office.

No longer in private detective mode, he was now a cop.

An hour later, Lowell was in another rental car, angrily bounding over the rough approach to the shack in Westchester.

He noted several cars outside, one he didn’t recognize. Maybe it belonged to the thief they hired. He couldn’t imagine Stoddard sneaking into his office in the middle of the night himself. For a moment he wondered if he could be in danger. But Frederick Lowell didn’t care. He was furious.

He skidded to a stop, strode through the mud up to the door, and pounded on it.

There was a shuffle of sounds from inside.

“Who is it?”

“It’s Frederick.”

As soon as Stoddard opened the door, Lowell pushed inside, looking around with a frown as if he’d spot the manuscript half-hidden under the couch.

Stoddard blinked and said, “This is a surprise.”

“You could’ve called,” Beth said, clearly put out by his presence.

Anna looked him over with, for a change, sober eyes. Today it seemed she was actually drinking coffee from the coffee mug. Her face glowed. “Did you bring it? We’re very excited.”

Lowell hoped that the perpetrators of the theft were Stoddard and Beth only; he liked Anna and was rooting for her innocence. Her comment suggested that she knew nothing of the crime.

Or, like many addicts, perhaps she was a very, very good actress.

Stoddard was more blunt. “What’s this all about?” His role would require him to be both confused and irritated by the unexpected presence. He’d probably be prepping his indignation too.

The other man—the thief?—was burly. He rose and turned toward Lowell.

Was he about to be shot? Or beaten to death?

But Lowell’s anger possessed him and he ignored the large man. “Where is it?” he demanded, staring into Stoddard’s eyes.

“Where is what?”

“I know the truth. I know what you did.”

“Frederick, what the hell do you mean? I’d appreciate it if you’d explain what this is all about.”

“Someone stole the sequel last night.”

“What?” Anna gasped. “Did you have a copy?”

“They stole that too. Broke into my office.”

“And what?” Stoddard asked. “You think we did it?”

The indignation arrived on cue.

Curiously, though, Stoddard didn’t seem to be acting guilty. Beth looked horrified. “Someone stole our manuscript? What do the police say?”

“I haven’t gone to them yet.”

“Why not?” she asked stridently.

Because I know the guilty parties, he thought.

Then qualified: I’m pretty sure I do.

Stoddard muttered, “And why do you think we stole it?”

“Because your father didn’t write it. It was dated after he died. And if he didn’t write the sequel, he probably didn’t write Cedar Hills, either.”

“My God,” Beth said.

Anna shook her head, frowning. “I can’t believe that. Impossible, Frederick.”

Lowell filled in the facts he’d learned in his investigation. “You’re the most logical suspects. Because if the sequel was published, word might get out that it was a fraud. All your royalties would dry up.”

“Royalties?” Stoddard asked. “Wouldn’t be the end of the world. The checks were getting smaller and smaller every year anyway.”

Lowell blinked, not understanding. “But…what would you do for money without the royalty income? You’d be destitute.”

“Destitute?” Beth said, an uncharacteristic laugh tumbling from her throat.

Stoddard was smiling too. “Frederick, you know how much money Cedar Hills has earned us over the years?”

“Yes,” Lowell said, “of course I do. Close to twenty million dollars.”

“And do you know how much we have in the bank and the stock market?”

Lowell’s response was to look around the shabby shack.

Stoddard said, “At least forty million, between us. Anna’s got a bit less than we do.”

His sister grimaced. “Some bad choices in the marriage department. But I guess I’m still worth eight figures or so.”

Stoddard said, “We’ve invested it. And very carefully.”

“But—” Another look at the shack.

Beth caught on. She said sourly, “I told you this was temporary. We sold our old house last month and bought this property—thirty acres—to build on. Anna’s going to put up a place on the land too.” Looking at her sister-in-law, she said, “Anna’s admitted she’s got some problems and we’re going to help her get over that. We thought it would be best for everybody if we all lived nearby.”

Anna smiled. “I know we haven’t always gotten along but, you know, in the end they’ve really come through for me.”

“Oh.” Lowell was blushing. He hoped it wasn’t too obvious.

“Ah, you were wondering why I asked about the next royalty check,” Stoddard continued. “I just didn’t want to sell any stock with the market down the other day. Timing was bad. But the Dow soared the next day and I sold quite a bit—mostly Facebook, by the way. Made plenty to pay the deposit for the construction and then some.” He nodded at the bulky man, who’d been standing silently. Stoddard introduced them. He was their builder, it seemed, who’d come to show them blueprints for the new houses.

Not a thief.

“I stand corrected,” Lowell said.

Then, filling the extremely awkward silence, he added, “But who stole the manuscript? Who doesn’t want it published?”

The Siblings, in unison, shrugged.

Then an idea occurred to Lowell: “Malone! Preston Malone.”

“Oh, the biographer,” Anna recalled.

“Yes! He saw the date on the front page of the manuscript I’d sent. He would have realized that it was written after your father died. And probably went back through his own notes. He’d have figured out the truth too and knew he had to make sure no one found out that Coe was the author. Your father’s the center of his universe. His only claim to fame is the biography—he’d be ruined if the truth came out.” He was seething again. “I’m going to call him now. See what he has to say for himself.”

As he was dialing, Lowell happened to glance at the mantelpiece and noticed a picture of Edward Goodwin with his wife, from the fifties it seemed. They were sitting at a café in Paris, presumably on the Left Bank. It was a Hemingway image if ever there was one.

Malone answered the phone. “Frederick! I’ve been waiting for your call.”

Lowell didn’t say anything. He was staring at the photograph.

Paris.

Oh.

“Hello, Frederick? This is your number on caller ID, right? Are you there?”

Instead of delivering the news about the manuscript’s disappearance, Lowell said to the biographer, “I have a question for you.”

“Surely.”

“Did Edward Goodwin spend much time in Europe?”

Stoddard and Beth regarded each other with curious gazes then turned back to Lowell. He didn’t meet their eyes.

Malone said, “Yes, yes, he was educated there, in France mostly. And he and his wife lived there and in Germany for nearly fifteen years.”

Lowell sighed. “And when he wrote dates did he write them month-day-year or day-month-year?”

“Oh, always the European style. Day-month-year.”

“So that title page of the sequel I faxed you, the date on it? It was February eighth of ’67. Not August second.”

“How could it have been dated August second? Edward died in June. But the manuscript?” the biographer said impatiently. “Did you read it? What’s the story about? What happens to Jesse? Did Jonas get back to Ohio before he died?”

“I’ll call you back,” Lowell repeated.

“But—”

Click.

Lowell sat down. “So, I suppose he was the author after all. There’s no other evidence to suggest he wasn’t.”

Anna was returning from her bedroom, holding several yellowing sheets of paper. She offered them to Lowell. “Frederick, you mentioned the upper case letters and the strike-throughs on the first page of the sequel? Look at these. They’re early drafts of some of Dad’s articles he wrote for the Chicago Tribune. He sent them to me when I was in school and he was encouraging me to be a writer. He told me, ‘Hemingway said there are no great writers; there are only great rewriters.’ He showed me his drafts so I could see how he revised.”

Lowell took them. The capitalization and crossed-out words were identical. And the typewriter typeface seemed the same as on the first page of Anderson’s Hope.

The dates of the draft were 1960—years before Goodwin had even met Coe.

The manuscript was authentic.

Lowell sighed and offered in a weak voice: “I’m sorry. But somebody stole an important piece of literary history? Who? Why?”

Stoddard gave a sour laugh. “Jesus, Frederick, aren’t you missing something? I mean, with all respect to Dad, it’s only a book.”

Frederick Lowell didn’t represent any mystery and thriller writers, which he always regretted because he passionately loved crime novels—believing that the authors were not only among the best storytellers but were the most disciplined and least self-indulgent of writers, unlike many of those who penned “literature.” So it was with great pleasure that he was allowed to come along to the arrest of the perp who’d broken into his office the week before and stolen Anderson’s Hope.

The Pennsylvania State Police detective, a nice crew-cut young fellow named Brynne, decided it was the least he could do since Lowell was responsible for the information that led to the impending arrest.

Though, in fairness, it was Stoddard Goodwin’s comment, seemingly disparaging about Cedar Hills being “only” a book, that was the flash of brilliance that led to the unraveling of the mystery.

Why indeed did Lowell assume that the thief was after Anderson’s Hope? Could he not have been after something else in the carton delivered to Asheville and forwarded to New York?

The answer was yes. And to learn who was behind the theft, one needed only to consider the one person he’d mentioned the sequel to who had no interest in it.

Dr. Samuel Coe.

Lowell had contacted New York City, Bucks County, and Pennsylvania State Police officials and reported that he believed Dr. Coe had stolen the carton because he was afraid it contained information about the death of his mother many years ago—a murder that the Sam Spade within Lowell now believed the doctor himself had committed. Detective Brynne decided to look into the case and reviewed the transcripts and witness reports from the original investigation. He tracked down family members and friends who were still alive. He discovered that while Mary Coe—herself a bit unhinged—did nag her mentally ill son a great deal, the pressure on Jon didn’t compare to the abuse she put her other children through.

“Tiger Mom on steroids,” was how Brynne described her. A family friend reported one incident in which she whipped young Samuel with a lamp wire for secretly listening to a ballgame in his room when he should have been studying for a test. His younger sister too endured much the same treatment.

The detective speculated that teenage Samuel had snapped and either talked his brother into killing the woman and then blamed him for it, or killed her himself and made it appear that Jon was responsible.

As for the theft of the manuscript, records revealed that Samuel Coe had traveled to New York City at eight p.m. on that day and took the last train back to Bucks County. Security cameras showed him arriving at Penn Station without a carton in his possession but leaving with one, which Lowell said looked much like the box that was stolen from the law office.

The implication was that Samuel believed the box, with its pages of notes on the crime, and possibly even the manuscript itself, contained information suggesting that Samuel—not Jon—had murdered their mother.

A warrant was issued in Pennsylvania to search Dr. Coe’s house and Frederick Lowell had practically begged Brynne to bring him along.

Lowell wasn’t permitted inside, of course, as the warrant was being executed. There might be gunplay, the police said, though Dr. Coe was in his late sixties and it didn’t seem he was much of a threat. Lowell waited in the car a half hour before the portly, balding doctor was led out in handcuffs, his face ashen. There’d been no resistance.

Detective Brynne joined Lowell beside the squad car. He gave a grin. “He confessed, sir. Got him cold.”

Lowell asked, “What happened? Did he talk his brother into the crime? Or kill her himself?”

“Did it himself. He stabbed her to death and then called his brother into the room and handed him the knife, started screaming, why did he do it? Jon was in a delusional state then and probably believed that he had killed his mother.” Brynne then nodded toward the house. “We’ve recovered what he stole. Could you identify it, please?”

“Be happy to,” Lowell said. This was, of course, the real reason he’d wanted to come. Not to watch the arrest but to talk the police out of one of the manuscripts of Anderson’s Hope. They probably wouldn’t need both of them for evidence.

They walked through the house and then out the back door. Brynne nodded to another detective, who approached with a small plastic bag in a blue-gloved hand. “Sir, is this the mailing label of the box that was stolen from your office?”

Lowell’s face fell.

“Sir?”

He whispered, “It is, but…my God.”

Inside the bag was a three-by-four-inch scrap of paper, scorched on all sides. Lowell looked behind the officer and found himself staring at the red-brick barbecue pit. He walked—staggered really—to it and looked down at the grill. “Is this…? Did he burn it? Did he burn everything?”

The forensic cop said, “That’s right, sir. Some of the carton itself survived—like the label. But everything else, a couple of thousand sheets of paper, I guess, is gone. Sometimes the crime lab boys can find writing or images. Not with this. It’s as fine as flour.”

Staring at the gray mound in the barbecue, Frederick Lowell thought of a more appropriate simile: as fine as ash in a funeral urn.

Frederick Lowell’s life returned to normal.

No more secret manuscripts, no family drama, no ghosts from the past. He negotiated contracts, fought with publishers, made difficult or joyous calls to authors, kept an eye on the literary marketplace, and pestered countries in the eurozone for timely payments of royalties. Imprudent borrowing by the government was not, he emphasized time and again, his authors’ problem.

One interesting development was that he’d taken on a new client. Anna Goodwin had decided to take up her father’s fallen standard and write a book about the Coe murder—updated, of course, to include the recent developments.

One day, Lowell returned from a Midtown lunch with a publisher, sat down at his desk, and looked over a stack of contracts.

Caitlin appeared in the doorway.

“New ink?” he asked, eyeing her wrist.

She beamed. In Lowell’s father’s day a boss would earn points for spotting a secretary’s new bracelet or hair style. Now, it was a tattoo he was admiring. A tasteful butterfly.

“Like it?”

“Beautiful. Hurt?”

“Can’t begin to describe it. This just arrived.”

She handed him a package marked “Personal and Confidential.” No return address, though the postmark was Beverly Hills, CA.

He opened it up. And gasped as he stared down at a copy of Anderson’s Hope.

There was a note attached.



Franklin:



Way super chatting with you a month ago.

Read in the paper about that crazy f’er burning up those copies of that sequel you were interested in. Thought I’d check our archives. Seems that Goodwin sent somebody here a copy in the spring of ‘67. Found it.

Thought I’d plane it your way.


Ira Lepke



p.s. Shot the pages to my devel people here. They eyeballed it but decided it didn’t atmosphere. Wasn’t Shia or Tatum worthy. You know how it is. Sorry.



Lowell gave a breathless laugh. Oh, my God…

He put both hands on the manuscript, took a deep breath, and then flipped through it—in part to make sure it actually contained printed pages, rather than blank ones, a possibility that made no sense but wouldn’t have surprised him one bit.

But, yes, all 540 pages were filled with Goodwin’s prose, from the title to The End.

And then he shook his head ruefully at the producer’s decision to decline to make a movie sequel to Cedar Hills Road.

You know how it is.

Frederick Lowell had been selling, or not selling, properties to Hollywood for years. Yes, he knew how it was.

He called to Caitlin, “Cancel everything for this afternoon.”

“Sure, Frederick. You have a meeting?”

“No, I’ll be here. I’ve got some reading to do.”

Two weeks later, at around seven p.m., the huge form of Preston Malone settled into a couch in Lowell’s Seventh Avenue office. The two men had planned a celebratory dinner this evening.

Before Malone had arrived from Long Island, Caitlin, bless her heart, had voluntarily wiped down most surfaces, as least those where elbows met wood, so the men’s sleeves would remain largely grit-free. Today, the construction work outside had been particularly vigorous.

It was now that interstitial period after Working Manhattan has faded and Evening Manhattan has yet to shake the water from its wings and get on with the serious business of food, culture, and romance.

The streets were, in short, peaceful.

A serenity that was aided and abetted by the silken air of a spring evening.

“Bourbon?” the lawyer asked. The American beverage seemed a better choice for celebration than French Champagne.

“Ah.”

Glasses appeared—grit-free, Lowell was proud to note. Some Maker’s Mark splashed into the faux crystal.

“I’m afraid there’s no ice.”

“That’s the way Edward liked it,” said the biographer, his voice dipping reverently at the man’s name.

Malone inhaled the heady liquor and sipped. “I can’t thank you enough, Frederick. You’re single-handedly responsible for bringing the greatest writer of the twentieth century to the attention of a whole new generation of readers.”

Lowell enjoyed a bit of liquor too, nodding, though he was embarrassed at the adulation. He reflected too that Malone’s dialog was as stagey as his prose.

Malone sat forward over the coffee table and flipped through some of the articles about Goodwin that had been published in the past few weeks—and not only in arts sections but in the national and business news too. He smiled, regarding the headlines that mentioned the author of Cedar Hills by name. His joy was evident, as one would expect from a man who was sustained by all things Goodwin, the way a hummingbird thrives on nectar.

Lowell glanced at the top article. From Publishing Times.


Industry experts report a resurgence in the sales of the mid-century classic Cedar Hills Road, by Edward Goodwin. While never out of print since its publication in 1966, shipments of the novel have fallen steadily in recent years, as American readers turned to foreign, experimental and ethnic-oriented writing.

However the book’s publisher is reporting the highest sales this month in 10 years.

The reason for the surge has been attributed to the recent revelation that a prisoner Goodwin was interviewing with the intention of writing a true-crime book was in fact innocent and had been set up to take the fall for a murder committed by his own brother. The prisoner, Jon Everett Coe, was executed for the crime of murdering his mother in Bucks County, Penn., in the 1960s.

An attorney working for the estate of Edward Goodwin discovered facts suggesting the identity of the real killer.

“I was pursuing some rumors that Edward had written a sequel to Cedar Hills Road,” said Frederick Lowell, 72, of Manhattan. “Documents and other information I found told me that Jon Coe, the man executed in 1967, was probably innocent. I contacted the police and they took it from there.”



This story—the TruTV, real-crime element of Lowell’s mission—is what had put Cedar Hills back on the best-seller lists.

But what had most firmly preserved the reputation of Edward Goodwin was something else altogether.

The answer to that was found in a later portion of the article, a throwaway line.


“And I’m sorry to report that my search for an extant copy of the sequel to Cedar Hills Road was unsuccessful,” Lowell added.



Malone swallowed a sizeable portion of bourbon. He looked out the window of the office at the astonishing flutter and sweep of lights from the buildings, the cars, the LED billboards, the sun too—low in the west. He shook his head and sighed. “I’m still surprised, to put it mildly.” This was a whisper.

“And I am too.”

They were referring to their independent and identical conclusions about Anderson’s Hope: That it was perhaps the worst novel of the twentieth century.

Unstructured, rambling, digressive, written in prose not worthy of a hormone-engorged high school student. Characters came and went without explanation. One chapter was practically cut and pasted from Cedar Hills verbatim. For page after page, nothing happened: The story didn’t move forward, characters were left undeveloped.

And worst of all, Jesse Anderson—who in the first book was the Augie March, the Holden Caulfield, the Frodo, the Katniss Everdeen, the adored centerpiece of the novel—turned into, as Malone said accurately, “a complete shit.”

Frederick Lowell had read the manuscript three times—over an agonizing several days—desperately searching to see if there was some way to salvage it.

But, no. It was garbage and nothing but.

Lowell and Malone agreed to take the line that the only copies had been destroyed by Samuel Coe. The movie producer, Ira Lepke, knew about it, of course, but Lowell was sure the manuscript was completely off the man’s radar. The lawyer had told Malone, “I know Hollywood. Once a studio decides there’s no movie potential in a book, it ceases to exist.”

“And what happened to the manuscript?” Malone now asked.

Lowell paused then said, “It’s where it ought to be.”

“Sad,” Malone said. “He was wrestling with the sequel, up until his last days, fighting writer’s block. Depressed. Drunk a lot of the time, I’d guess.”

Lowell said, “I’m not so sure. According to the date on the typescript and the letter from Connecticut he’d finished the sequel early in ‘67. I like to think that he’d shelved the sequel in February, kept working away on the Coe true-crime story, and spent his remaining months in Asheville. Maybe with a lover—could have been that Katrina Tomlison, the one who liked him to recite to her from the book.”

Malone laughed. “I always wondered what passages she preferred.”

It was nearly time for their dinner reservation. Before they rose to depart, though, Malone lifted his glass. “Let’s drink to Edward Goodwin.”

But Lowell said, “He’s been toasted plenty. I’d drink to someone else.”

“Who?”

“Edward’s muse.

“His muse?” Malone asked, frowning. “Why her? She deserted him.”

“I disagree,” Lowell said.

The biographer asked, “How do you mean?”

“What if Anderson’s Hope had been decent?”

The man lifted a palm. “Well, it would have been published around the world. Been reviewed on the front page of the New York Times Book Review and in hundreds of papers around the country. Sold millions of copies.”

The lawyer’s eyes glinted as he smiled. “Ah, that’s exactly the problem.”

Malone shook his head, not knowing where his friend was going.

Lowell continued, “Cedar Hills Road was one of those books that hit at just the right time and it spoke in just the right voice. It became an icon of an era, a touchstone of literature. One of a kind. A sequel, any sequel, however good, couldn’t hope to live up to it. And everyone would come to look at the original differently. It would have been redefined, changed, just by the sequel’s existence. It would have been,” he summarized, “diminished.”

Malone nodded again. He lifted his glass: “All right, then. So here’s to Edward Goodwin’s muse.”

“To his muse,” Lowell echoed, “who had the genius to visit once. And never again.”

Their glasses touched and rang.
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